การตอบสนองของสาตรมักเซกก์จากไขกระดูกมนุขย์ที่มีต่อออสทาโอพอนทินและโครงร่าง ออสทาโอพอนทิน/คอกกาเจนจากผิวหนังวัว เมื่อศึกษาด้วยการเพาะเกี้ยงเซกก์

นาข ปกาคพงส์ สิริคุรุรัตน์

วิทยานิพนธ์นี้เป็นส่วนหนึ่งของการศึกษาตามหลักสูตรปริญญาวิทยาศาสตรมทาบัณฑิต สาขาวิชาปริทันตศาสตร์ กาควิชาปริทันตริทยา คณะทันดบพทยศาสตร์ จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย ปีการศึกษา 2550 ลิขสิทธิ์ของจุฬาองกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย

THE RESPONSE OF HUMAN BONE MARROW STROMAL CELLS TO OSTEOPONTIN AND OSTEOPONTIN/BOVINE DERMAL COLLAGEN SCAFFOLD IN CULTURE

Mr. Papatpong Sirikururat

A Thesis Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Master of Science Program in Periodontics

> Department of Periodontology Faculty of Dentistry

> > Chulalongkorn University

Academic Year 2007 Copyright of Chulalongkorn University

Thesis Title	THE RESPONSE OF HUMAN BONE MARROW STROMAL		
	CELLS TO OSTEOPONTIN AND OSTEOPONTIN/BOVINE		
	DERMAL COLLAGEN SCAFFOLD IN CULTURE		
Ву	Mr. Papatpong Sirikururat		
Field of Study	Periodontics		
Thesis Principal Advisor	Assistant Professor Suphot Tamsailom		
Thesis Co-advisor	Associate Professor Somporn Swasdison		

Accepted by the Faculty of Dentistry, Chulalongkorn University in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Master 's Degree

Thifima Rusiu Dean of the Faculty of Dentistry

(Assistant Professor Thitima Pusiri)

THESIS COMMITTEE

Manlehaver Horpariny Chairman

(Associate Professor Naulchavee Hongprasong)

Supher Tamsailon Thesis Principal Advisor

(Assistant Professor Suphot Tamsailom)

Jompon masdiso Thesis Co-advisor

(Associate Professor Somporn Swasdison)

Mamda Jour Hul External Member

(Wanida Janvikul, Ph.D)

Wandle Apinhasmit Member

(Associate Professor Wandee Apinhasmit)

ปภาตพงศ์ ศีรีครูรัตน์ : การตอบสนองของสโตรมัลเซลล์จากใขกระดูกมนุษย์ที่มีต่อออสที่โอ พอนทีนและโครงร่างออสที่โอพอนทีน/คอลลาเจนจากผิวหนังวัว เมื่อศึกษาด้วยการเพาะเลี้ยง Mនន៍, (THE RESPONSE OF HUMAN BONE MARROW STROMAL CELLS TO OSTEOPONTIN AND OSTEOPONTIN/BOVINE DERMAL COLLAGEN SCAFFOLD IN CULTURE) ย. ที่ปรึกษา วิทยานิพนธ์หลัก : ผศ.ทพ. สพจน์ ตามสายลม, ย. ที่ปรึกษาวิทยานิพนธ์ร่วม : รศ.ทณ.ตร. สมพร สวัสดิสรรพ์, 64 หน้า,

การศึกษานี้มีวัตถุประสงค์เพื่อทุดสอบการตอบสนองของสโตรมัลเขลล์ต่อออสทิโอพอนทิน ดอลลาเจน และโครงร่างออสทีโอพอนทีน/คอลลาเจน ในแง่ของความเข้ากันได้ทางชีวภาพ การ เหนี่ยวนำการเปลี่ยนแปลงจำนวนเซลล์ และการยึดเกาะของเซลล์ที่เพาะเลี้ยงในห้องปฏิบัติการ ทำการศึกษาโดยการเพาะเสี้ยงลโดรมัลเซลล์จากไขกระดูกมนุษย์ร่วมกับคอลลาเจนที่สกัดจากผิวหนัง วัวและรีคอมบิแนนท์ออสทิโอพอนทินของหนู จากนั้นศึกษาการเพิ่มจำนวนเขลล์ด้วยวิธีสอบวิเคราะห์ เอิ่มที่ที่ในเขลล์ที่เพาะเลี้ยงด้วย 4 สภาวะ ได้แก่ สภาวะที่ไม่ได้รับสารใด ๆ ได้รับสารละลายคอลลาเจน สารละลายออสที่โอพอนทีน และสารละลายออสที่โอพอนทีนผสมคอลลาเจน และศึกษาลักษณะการยึด เกาะของเซลล์ด้วยกล้องจุลทรรศน์อิเล็กตรอนขนิดส่องกราดทั้ง 4 สภาวะ รวมทั้งการยึดเกาะของเซลล์ บนโครงร่างออสที่โอพอนทีน/คอลลาเจน ผลการศึกษาพบว่าสารละลายคอลลาเจน และสารละลาย คอลลาเจนผสมออสทีโอพอนทีน กระตุ้นการเพิ่มจำนวนสโตรมัลเซลล์ โดยเพิ่มขึ้นเป็นร้อยละ 106.88 ± 3.85 และ 118.12 ± 6.14 ตามลำดับ (P<0.05) แต่สารละลายออสที่โอพอนทีน มีผลสดจำนวนเซลล์ อย่างมีนัยสำคัญทางสถิติ โดยลดลงเหลือร้อยละ 63.15 ± 8.03 เมื่อเปรียบเทียบกับกลุ่มควบคุม (P <0.05) การศึกษาด้วยกล้องจุลทรรศน์อิเล็กตรอนชนิดส่องกราด พบว่าในกลุ่มควบคุมและกลุ่มที่ ได้รับสารละลายคอลลาเจนผสมออสที่โอพอนทีน เซลล์มีการแผ่ตัวและยึดเกาะดี เมื่อเพาะเลี้ยงเซลล์ ร่วมกับโครงร่างออลทีโอพอนทีน/คอลลาเจนที่สร้างขึ้น พบว่าเซลล์มีการขึดเกาะและแบ่งตัวได้ดี โดย สรุป สารละลายคอลลาเจนมีการกระดันให้เกิดการเพิ่มจำนวนและการยึดเกาะของสโตรมัลเซลล์จากไข กระดูกมนุษย์ได้ดี โดยสารละลายคอลลาเจนผสมออสทิโอพอนทินให้ผลดีที่สุด รวมถึงโครงร่างออสทีโอ-พอนทิน/คอลลาเจนมีความเข้ากันได้ทางชีวภาพกับเขลล์ แลดงให้เห็นว่าโครงร่างที่สร้างขึ้นใหม่นี้ ให้ ผลดีต่อสโดงมัลเขลล์และอาจมีประโยชน์ในการนำมาใช้เพื่อทำให้เกิดการงอกใหม่ของแผลกระดูก

ปีการศึกษา 2550

ลายมือซื้ออาจารย์ที่ปรึกษาวิทยานิพนธ์ร่วม วัมพะ ๖๖๖๙ระบพ

##4976111532 : MAJOR PERIODONTICS

KEY WORD: OSTEOPONTIN / BOVINE DERMAL COLLAGEN / SCAFFOLD / BONE MARROW STROMAL CELLS / BIOMATERIAL

PAPATPONG SIRIKURURAT : THE RESPONSE OF HUMAN BONE MARROW STROMAL CELLS TO OSTEOPONTIN AND OSTEOPONTIN/BOVINE DERMAL COLLAGEN SCAFFOLD IN CULTURE. THESIS PRINCIPAL ADVISOR : ASST.PROF. SUPHOT TAMSAILOM, THESIS COADVISOR : ASSOC.PROF. SOMPORN SWASDISON, 64 pp.

The aims of this study are to investigate the response including cell proliferation and cell attachment to osteopontin, collagen and mixed osteopontin/collagen substrates and to construct the osteopontin/collagen scaffold with evaluation of its biocompatibility to the cells in vitro. The study was performed by co-culturing human bone marrow stromal cells with bovine dermal collagen and recombinant rat osteopontin. MTT assay was employed to determine the cell proliferation resulted from the cells being exposed to four conditions; unexposed, exposed to collagen, exposed to osteopontin and exposed to mixed osteopontin/collagen. Cell attachment to these four conditioned surfaces and cell morphology on the scaffold were observed by a scanning electron microscope. The results showed that the number of cells exposed to the collagen and the mixed osteopontin/collagen significantly increased to 106.88 \pm 3.85% and 118.12 \pm 6.14% respectively (P <0.05), whereas the number of cells exposed to the osteopontin significantly decreased to 63.15 ± 8.03% when compared to the control group (P <0.05). Scanning electron microscopy demonstrated good cell attachment in collagen and the mixed collagen/osteopontin groups. When the cells cultured with osteopontin/collagen scaffold, there were cell proliferation and cell attachment into the scaffold. In conclusion, this study revealed that both collagen containing solutions enhance the human bone marrow stromal cell proliferation and attachment. The enhancement was increased with the addition of osteopontin. The osteopontin/collagen scaffold has good biocompatibility with human bone marrow stromal cells. These results suggest that this novel scaffold were advantageous to the stromal cells. Therefore, it might be worth introducing them to the field of bone regeneration.

Department Periodontology Field of study Periodontics Academic year 2007

Student's signature loptpang Sirikururat Principal Advisor's signature Support Tamoailom Co-advisor's signature comport Sinstina

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

My greatest thank goes to Assistant Professor Suphot Tamsailom, Department of Periodontology and Associate Professor Somporn Swasdison, Department of Oral Pathology, Faculty of Dentistry, Chulalongkorn University, who as my mentors contributed a great deal of valuable advices and were always there when I need suggestions. Their kindness and concern for my work and future will always be remembered. I would like to thank the members of my graduate committee: Associate Professor Naulchavee Hongprasong, Associate Professor Wandee Apinhasmit, and Dr. Wanida Janvikul for their valuable comments and suggestions on my work.

I wish to thank those whom I have worked with during my research project: Associate Professor Pi-Ling Chang, University of Alabama at Birmingham, USA for kindly provided osteopontin in this study, all faculties and staffs of Department of Periodontology, Department of Oral Pathology and Department of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery, Faculty of Dentistry, Chulalongkom University and Mrs. Rujipom Prateepasen; Scientific and Technological Research Equipment Centre, Chulalongkom University for their kind assistance and supports.

My sincere gratitude are expressed to my special friend, Dr. Tanawat Ritkajorn, Graduate Prosthodontic student, University of Minnesota, School of Dentistry, USA, an invaluable stimulation and support of carrying out this research, especially proof reading with infinite patience of his linguistic skill.

I also wish to thank the THE 90" ANNIVERSARY OF CHULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY FUND (Ratchadaphiseksomphot Endowment Fund) and CHULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY GRADUATE SCHOLARSHIP TO COMMEMORATE THE 72^{ed} ANNIVERSARY OF HIS MAJESTY KING BHUMIBOL ADULYADEJ for the financial support, and the Department of Periodontology, Faculty of Dentistry. Chulalongkorn University for giving me a chance to study in this program.

I ast but not least, my deeply gratitude are expressed to my dad, Mr. Pramuk Sirikururat and mom, Mrs. Wanpen Sirikururat, for inestimate courage and unconditional love in all aspects of my educational achievement and future career path.

CONTENTS

-		
- 4		6.4
C .I		S
	а	aq

ABSTRACT (THAI)
ABSTRACT (ENGLISH)
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS
CONTENTS
LIST OF FIGURES
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS
CHAPTER LINTRODUCTION
CHAPTER II LITERATURE REVIEW
2.1 Scaffold
2.2 Collagen
2.3 Osteopontin
2.4 Bone marrow stromal cells
CHAPTER III MATERIALS AND METHODS
3.1 Materials
3.2 Methods
3.2.1 Collagen isolation and preparation15
3.2.2 Osteopontin preparation
3.2.3 Sponge fabrication
3.2.4 Bone marrow samples and criteria of subjects16
3.2.5 Bone marrow stromal cell culture
3.3 Observation and measurements
3.3.1 Physical appearance of the osteopontin/collagen sponge17
3.3.2 Identification of the human bone marrow stromal cells and
osteoblastic cells17
3.3.3 Response of human bone marrow stromal cells to collagen.
osteopontin and osteopontin/collagen substrate
3.3.4 Response of human bone marrow stromal cells to
osteopontin/collagen sponge
3.4 Analysis of the data

3.5 Ethical consideration
CHAPTER IV RESULTS
4.1 Physical appearance of the osteopontin/collagen sponge
4.2 Identification of the human bone marrow stromal cells and osteoblastic
cells
4.3 Response of human bone marrow stromal cells to collagen, osteopontin and
osteopontin/collagen substrate
4.4 Response of human bone marrow stromal cells to osteopontin/collagen
sponge
CHAPTER V DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSIONS
REFERENCES
APPENDICES
BIOGRAPHY

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure	Page
Figure 1 demonstrates each condition in 24-	well plate for cell proliferation test19
Figure 2 demonstrates the white sponge-like	collagen prepared from bovine skin in
different shapes	
Figure 3 demonstrates the cross section of the	e porous osteopontin/collagen
sponge	
Figure 4 demonstrates the porous structure of	of the osteopontin/collagen sponge from
scanning electron microscopy	
Figure 5 demonstrates the CD105 positive co	alls of bone marrow stromal cells23
Figure 6 inverted phase contrast and light m	icrographs demonstrate the calcified
nodules in the 30-day-old BMSC ci	ulture and these nodules were positively
stained by Alizarin red S	
Figure 7 scanning electron micrographs sho	w structures and attachment of cells
grown on the surfaces coated with	collagen, osteopontin and mixed
osteopontin/collagen in compariso	n to the control group in which the cells
were grown on the uncoated surface	.e
Figure 8 demonstrates the percentages of co	all number when the cells were grown in
the 24-well plate supplemented with	h collagen, osteopontin or mixed
collagen/osteopontin solution in co	mparison to the control group in which the
cells were grown in the non-supple	mented plate27
Figure 9 inverted phase contrast micrograph	demonstrates the 5-day-old bone marrow
stromal cell culture with osteoponti	n/collagen sponge28
Figure 10 scanning electron micrograph den	nonstrates attached and proliferated bone
marrow stromal cells on osteoponti	n/collagen sponge at day 528

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

ARS	Alizarin red S
BMSCs	Bone marrow stromal cells
CD	Cluster of differentiation
CO,	Carbon dioxide
DMEM	Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium
DMSO	Dimethylsulfoxide
ECM	Extracellular matrix
Gly	Glycine
h5	Hour
HAc	Acetic acid
Нур	Hydro×yproline
kDa	Kilodalton
mg	Milligram
min	Minutes
mL.	Millilitre
mm	Millimetre
mM	Millimole
MIT	3-(4,5)-dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2,5-diphenyl -
	tetrazolium bromide
NaCl	Sodium chloride
om 🗾	Nanometre
nM	Nanomole
OPN DI TO ON DI	Osteopontin
PBS C C	Phosphate buffer saline
PDGF	Platelet-derived growth factor
Pro	Proline
RGD	Arginine-glycine-aspartic acid
rpm	Round per minute
SEM	Scanning electron microscopy



CHAPTER I

INTRODUCTION

Background and rationale

From the lack of a widely acceptable choice for bone regeneration, a number of treatment options have been developed along the century. Autogenous bone grafting with its good biological properties such as adequate structural support, osteogenesis by virtue of surviving cells, osteoinductiveness and osteoconductiveness, is used as the gold standard treatment for bone regeneration. The autogenous bone usually consists of bone collagen, bone mineral and bone matrix proteins (DeLacure, 1994; Johnson et al., 1996). On the contrary, autogenous bone grafting contains donor site limitations. which are inadequate bone volume, donor site morbidity, deformity and discomfort. As the results from those disadvantages and limitations, allografts and alloplasts have been developed as substitutes and used based on their osteoinductive and osteoconductive properties (van Heest and Swiontkowski, 1999). These materials, however, have inherent disadvantages on failure of complete bone ingrowth, extended inflammatory reaction, transmission of infections, uncontrollable resorption rate of the graft and encapsulation by connective tissue with little bone formation (Constantino and Friedman, 1994; Yukna, 1993; Virolainen et al., 1997). At present, there are a number of limitations of current bone regeneration techniques in various types of clinical conditions. Hence, the development of improved methods, such as tissue engineeredmediated bone regeneration, is necessary for achieving future viable therapeutic alternatives (Gronthos et al., 2006).

Tissue engineering approaching to the restoration and repairing of damaged tissues requires a scaffold material upon which cells can attach, proliferate, and differentiate hopefully into a functionally and structurally appropriate tissue for the body location where it is placed. In addition, ideal scaffold would allow for delivery of signaling molecules capable of coordinating cellular function (Wan et al., 2006). Varieties of scaffold materials have been available with different physical properties, Each material associates with a specific and unique host response when implanted in a host. Scaffold materials, which can be either synthetically or naturally derived, have been used with different success rates to generate tissue-engineered bone formation both *in vitro* and *in vivo*.

Among the naturally derived scaffolds, collagen scaffold is the most commonly used. Type I collagen is a rational option for use in bony defect healing. It is the major structural protein of bone and the natural scaffold for osteoblast migration. The advantages of collagen use are the low immunogenic response across species, availability, abundance in nature, biodegradability, hemostatic promotion, cell-binding properties and easy manipulation into different forms (DeLustro et al., 1987; Watson, 1999). It has been used for soft and hard tissue repair (Delbalso and Adrain, 1976). Moreover, collagen associated with growth factors or other extracellular components such as glycosaminoglycans, chondroitin sulphate, heparan sulphate, and chemical modification could enhance its applicability as a biomaterial (Pieper et al., 1999; Pieper et al., 2000; van Susante et al., 2001)

Osteopontin (OPN) or bone sialoprotein-1 is a member of non-collagenous acidic hydrophobic phosphoprotein in extracellular matrix. OPN is expressed by various cell types and it is a multifunctional protein. OPN contains an arginine-glycine-aspartic acid (RGD) cell binding sequence, thus cells can bind OPN via multiple integrin receptors including the vitronectin receptor as well as various β 1 and β 5 integrins (O'Regan et al., 1999). OPN plays an important role in cell physiology including cell adhesion, signaling, differentiation, regulation of intracellular calcium level, and modulation of the immune response to infection and neoplasia (Denhardt and Guo, 1993). OPN can act as an adhesion substrate and migration stimulus by interacting with several integrins. The interaction leads to downstream signaling events that include calcium mobilization, protein phosphorylation, regulation of gene expression, and cell differentiation. The function of OPN in differentiation of primary osteoblast indicates that binding of OPN to integrin regulates intracellular signal

transduction and upregulates alkaline phosphatase and osteocalcin expression via focal adhesion kinase phosphorylation in osteoblasts (Yabe, Nemeto and Uemura, 1997).

Objectives

This study is a part of the main project on establishment of a tissue engineering scaffold for bone regeneration. The aims of this study are to investigate the response including cell proliferation and cell attachment of human bone marrow stromal cells (BMSCs) to collagen and OPN and to construct the OPN/bovine dermal collagen sponge and evaluate its physical properties and biocompatibility on the human BMSCs *in vitro*.

Hypothesis

1. OPN/collagen can enhance the proliferation and induce the attachment of these cells *in vitro*.

2. OPN/bovine dermal collagen sponge is biocompatible to human BMSCs.

Key words

Bovine dermal collagen

Osteopontin

Scaffold

Tissue engineering

Bone marrow stromal cells

จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย

Limitation

Due to costly expenses of human bone marrow study, this study is classified to investigate limited human bone marrow samples.

Benefits of study

This study will provide the essential information on the biological properties of OPN and the novel tissue-engineered scaffold and will be published in the peered review journal, Furthermore, this information would be a guide for future studies in animal experiment and clinical study.

CHAPTER II

LITERATURE REVIEW

Scaffold

The potential of tissue regenerative treatments requires integration of three elements: inductive morphogenetic signals (morphogens), responding progenitor/stem cells and the extracellular matrix scatfold (Nakashima and Reddi, 2003). Tissue engineering has been evolved to repair or replace diseased or damaged tissue by using controlled scaffolds. The role of the scaffold is to provide a matrix of a specific geometric configuration in which seeded cells may grow to produce the desired tissue or organ (Abukawa et al., 2006). The scaffold should have following ideal characteristics; (1) three-dimensional and highly porous with an interconnected pore network for cell growth and effective transportation of nutrients and metabolic waste, (2) biocompatible, (3) bioresorbable with a controllable biodegradation and resorption rate to match cell/tissue growth in vitro and in vivo, (4) suitable surface for cell penetration, attachment, proliferation, and differentiation, and (5) provide an environment in which the cells can maintain their phenotype and synthesize proteins and mechanical properties to match those of the tissues at the site of implantation (Hutmacher, 2000; Vats et al., 2003; Abukawa et al., 2006). To date, the ideal scaffold that meets all these criteria has not been developed.

Even though several types of scaffolds have facilitated in vivo bone formation, the optimal scaffold has yet to be defined. Biomaterials used as scaffolds for bone tissue engineering can be classified into two broad categories: synthetic and naturally derived. Synthetic scaffold materials have been developed for bone tissue engineering including hydroxyapatite base materials, tricalcium phosphate, polymer matrices such as poly(α -hydroxyesters), polyglycolide, polylactides, polycaprolactone (Chou et al., 2006), and poly(D,L-lactic-*co*-glycolic acid) (Calvert et al., 2000; Abukawa et al., 2003). They have been introduced for tissue repair. Naturally derived scaffolds such as collagen, glycosaminoglycans, alginate, agarose, and chitin (Hutmacher et al., 1996; Abukawa et al., 2006) have long been developed to give good results in tissue regeneration. The advantages of natural materials are that they have low toxicity and low chronic inflammatory response. They can combine into a composite with other natural or synthetic materials and can be degraded by naturally occurring enzymes. The disadvantages, on the contrary, are the lack of desired structural rigidity for independent use in load-bearing regions, easy denaturation and often require chemical modification, which can lead to toxicity (Vats et al., 2003; Wan, Nacamuli and Longaker, 2006). Collagen has been routinely used as a substrate for bone engineering. Type I collagen has been specifically used to promote bone formation in rat mandibular defects. Collagen placed into the fractured region led to histologic bone bridging after six weeks of implantation in an experiment (Saadeh et al., 2001). Recently, chitosan has emerged as another natural scalfold for use in craniofacial repair. Chitosan, an acidicaqueous soluble form of chitin, enhanced healing of canine mandibular defects after injection into the defect sites (Cho et al., 2004). Lee et al. (2000) developed chitosan/tricalcium phosphate sponges as the scaffolds for bone formation by threedimensional rat osteoblast culture. Furthermore, Zhang and colleagues (2007) developed plasmid encoding platelet-derived growth factor B (PDGFB) gene releasing chitosan/coral composite scaffold as a regenerative material for periodontal regeneration. They found that human periodontal ligament cells had much proliferation properties on the gene-activated composite scatfold.

Natural or synthetic hydroxyapatite and tricalcium phosphate are ceramics. Ceramic biomaterials are structurally similar to the inorganic component of bone. They are biocompatible, osteoconductive and protein-free material but the disadvantages of them are brittle, long time degradation in vivo (Vacanti and Bonassar, 1999; Handschel et al., 2002) and uncontrollable pore size during conventional processing methods (Chu et al., 2002). In 2002, Boo and coworkers compared hydroxyapatite and tricalcium phosphate as scaffolds for bone engineering. In this study, scaffold was seeded with mesenchymal stem cells and implanted in subcutaneous sites. The result from histologic examination after eight weeks of implantation showed active bone formation in both scaffolds. Moreover, Schleiphake and colleagues (2004) applied mineral-based scaffolds to the calvarial defects in rats. Using several formulations of calcium phosphate, peri-implant bone deposition was noticed around all scaffolds after the implantation for 52 weeks. By varying the content of calcium phosphate within the scaffolds, the rate of resorption was also noted to vary, reflecting a change in the biodegradability of the construct.

Besides, there are composite scaffolds made of incorporation of new fillers into the classic scaffolds, for example, incorporation of tricalcium phosphate, hydroxyapatite (Shikinami and Okuno, 1998) and basic salts (Agrawal and Athanasiou, 1997) into a polymer matrix. These inorganic fillers help control the desired degradation and resorption of the polymer matrix. A composite material would also increase biocompatibility and hard tissue integration in a way that ceramic particles, which are embedded into the polymer matrix, allow for increased initial spread of serum proteins compared to the more hydrophobic polymer surface. Additionally, association between the natural scaffold such as porous collagen and other extracellular components such as glycosaminoglycans, chondroitin sulphate (van Susante et al., 2001), heparan sulphate and physical or chemical modification could enhance its applicability as an effective biomaterial in vitro and in vivo (Pieper et al., 1999; Pieper et al., 2000).

Collagen

2003).

Collagen is the most abundant protein in animals, approximately 30% of all proteins in mammals. Collagen is the major protein of connective tissue, tendons, ligaments, and cornea. It forms the matrix of bones and teeth. The most commonly occurring collagens are type I, II and III, which form the long fiber bundles in many tissues. At least 27 different types of collagen have now been identified on the basis of morphology, amino acid composition, and physical properties (Boot-Handford et al., The basic unit of collagen, tropocollagen, is a rigid rod-shaped molecule approximately 300 nm in length and 1.5 nm in diameter (Young and Heath, 2000). Collagen molecule contains three polypeptide chains, so called α chain. Each chain has 1000 amino acids and contains at least one stretch of the repeating amino acid sequence Glycine (Gly) -X-Y, where X and Y can be any amino acid but are usually proline (Pro) and hydroxyproline (Hyp) (van der Rest and Garrone, 1991). Therefore one third of all the amino acids in each collagen chain is Gly. Pro and Hyp follow each other frequently, and about 10% of the molecule has the sequence Gly-Pro-Hyp. Most collagens consist of two α 1 chains and one α 2 chain. An individual α chain is a left handed helix with approximately 3.3 residues per turn. The α chains are twisted together to form a right-handed superhelical structure (Patino et al., 2002a).

Type I collagen is found in fibrous supporting tissue, the dermis of skin, tendons, ligaments and bone, in a variable arrangement from loose to dense according to the mechanical support required. The tropocollagen molecules are aggregated to form fibrils strengthened by numerous intermolecular bonds. Parallel collagen fibrils are further arranged into strong bundles 2-10 µm in diameter which confer great tensile strength to the tissue (Young and Heath, 2000)

Collagen has been extensively used in the medical, dental, and pharmacological fields. Collagen is capable of being prepared into cross-linked compacted solids or into lattice gels. Resorbable forms of collagen have been used to dress oral wound or burn wounds, to close the grafts and extraction sites, and as a hemostatic agent (Colen and Mathes, 1983; Watson, 1999). Besides, it has been used to augment soft tissue, reconstruct tissue contour, correct scars (Oliver, 1987), and enhance tissue healing (Patino et al., 2002b). Furthermore, collagen has been utilized as the barrier membrane in periodontal and implant therapy to prevent epithelial migration and allows cells with regenerative capacity from periodontal ligament and bone marrow space to repopulate at the defect area. Collagen is the main structural protein for tissue support and remodeling upon physical stress and during wound healing process in vertebrates. It also plays an essential role in providing a biologic scaffold for cellular activities that influence cell attachment, migration, and even differentiation (Yang et al., 2004). Collagen has been use widely in tissue engineering of human tissues for medical applications, including bone engineering, three-dimensional scaffolds for seeding of mesenchymal stem cells (Xiao et al., 2003; Juncosa-Melvin et al., 2005; Hou et al., 2007)

There are many protocols to improve the properties of collagen scaffold used in tissue engineering. Collagen can be modified to increased strength by a variety of methods including cross-linking by ultraviolet-irradiation, dehydrative methods or chemical methods, for example, glutaraldehyde (Jayakrishnan and Jameela, 1996).

Osteopontin

OPN or bone sialoprotein-1 is a negative-charged acidic hydrophilic phosphoprotein of approximately 300 amino acid residues with molecular mass between 44 and 75 kDa (O'Regan and Berman, 2000). OPN is a multifunctional protein secreted into all body fluids. Although highly expressed in bone, it is also expressed by various cell types including macrophages, activated T lymphocytes, chondrocytes, endothelial cells, smooth muscle cells and epithelial cells (O'Brien et al., 1994; Malyankar et al., 1997). OPN contains an RGD cell binding sequence, a calcium binding site ,and two heparin binding domains. These two domains may co-interact with RGD domain (O'Regan and Berman, 2000). Cells may bind OPN via multiple integrin receptors including the vitronectin receptor as well as various β1 and β5 integrins. OPN may be cleaved by thrombin resulting in the exposure of additional cryptic binding sites as well as the production of functional chemotactic fragments (O'Regan et al., 1999).

During human development, OPN is detected in high level that is not presented in the normal adult. OPN is upregulated at sites of tissue remodeling. It is also found in the pathologically destructive tissues, for example, cancers and infarcted tissues. OPN can be associated with extracellular matrix (ECM), however, it does not perform a structural role within tissues as other ECM proteins.

OPN plays an important role in cell physiology including cell adhesion. signaling, differentiation, regulation of intracellular calcium level, and modulation of the immune response to infection and neoplasia (Denhardt and Guo, 1993). In the immune system during inflammation, OPN acts as a cytokine in T lymphocyte which leads to inhibition of expression of inducible nitric oxide synthase in both macrophages and primary renal tubular epithelial cells during infection response (Mazzali et al., 2002). OPN associates with pathogen resistance, and wound healing (Weber and Cantor, 1996). OPN involves in the recruitment and retention of macrophages and T cells to inflamed sites. It can act as an adhesion substrate and migration stimulus by interacting with several integrins. The interaction leads to downstream signaling events that include calcium mobilization, protein phosphorylation, regulation of gene expression and cell differentiation, Function of OPN in differentiation of primary osteoblast indicates that binding of OPN to integrin regulates intracellular signal transduction and upregulates alkaline phosphatase and osteocalcin expression via focal adhesion kinase phosphorylation in osteoblasts (Yabe et al., 1997). Furthermore, Liu and coworkers (1997b) found that OPN can trigger alkaline phosphatase gene expression via integrin-mediated focal adhesion kinase activation. Alkaline phosphatase expression at the transcription level induced by OPN was much higher than that induced by other ECM components. Therefore, OPN may be responsible for early differentiation in the osteoblastic cell line. OPN is also involved in bone remodeling and mineralization, angiogenesis, protection of cells from undergoing apoptosis, tumor metastasis, inflammation, wound healing process ,and tissue remodeling (Omigbodun et al., 1997).

Liu and coworkers (1997a) investigated the adhesion process of cultured osteoblastic cells by using immunofluorescence and biochemical techniques. Type I collagen, fibronectin, osteonectin, OPN, and bone sialoprotein were shown to play an

important role in the early differentiation of rat bone marrow-derived osteoblastic primary cells. Uemura and coworkers (2001) proposed that activated osteoblasts secreting ECM components such as OPN can be autocrine, which are recognized and bound by integrin $\alpha_s \beta_s$ on other osteoblasts to be activated. Moreover, OPN was shown to induce the in vivo osteogenesis of a bone marrow-derived osteoblast in the porous hydroxyapatite scaffold. In 1997, Yabe and Nemoto and Uemura studied the role of OPN, they were interested in cell adhesion and alkaline phosphatase assays of rat bone marrow-derived osteoblastic cells on type I collagen and OPN surfaces. The rat bone marrow-derived osteoblastic primary cells was proved to adhere strongly to the OPN and to have high alkaline phosphatase activity on the OPN. They concluded that pre-osteoblasts differentiate into osteoblasts which can form bone by recognizing OPN.

Bone marrow stromal cells

Bone marrow is a reservoir of pluripotent progenitor cells for mesenchymal tissues. BMSCs consist of a variety of cells, for example, pre-osteoblasts, erythrocytes, adipocytes, immune cells and mesenchymal stem cells. Mesenchymal stem cells are thought to be multipotential cells that can either replicate or differentiate to lineages of specific tissue such as bone and cartilage. BMSCs, which are also known as mesenchymal cells and have been identified as a population of organized postnatal mesenchymal stem cells, not only acted as myelosupportive stroma, but also have potential to differentiate into osteoblasts, chondrocytes, adipocytes, cardiomyocytes, myoblasts, and neural cells (Beresford, 1989; Prockop, 1997; Bianco et al., 2001). Temporal expression of various receptors by BMSCs is critical for tissue-specific differentiation, for example, signal transduction mediated by different cytokines such as bone morphogenetic proteins determines osteoblast and adipocyte differentiation from the same population of the progenitor cells (Chen et al., 1998). To date, surface antigenic markers have been described that were used in the purification of mesenchymal progenitor cells. BMSCs were initially identified by their capacity to form clonogenic adherent cell clusters with fibroblastic morphology in vitro (Kuznetsov et al., 2001; Weissman, 2000). The first antibody used to identified mesenchymal stem cells is STRO-1 (Dennis et al., 2002; Gronthos et al., 2003) but actually, many types of stem cell markers were utilized, such as CD10, CD13, CD14, CD34, CD45, CD73, CD90, CD105, CD117, CD133, CD144 (Jones et al., 2002; Tuli et al., 2003). BMSCs can now be efficiently retrieved from bone marrow aspirates.



CHAPTER III

MATERIALS AND METHODS

3.1 Materials

1. Tissue culture medium

Minimum Essential Medium Alpha (@MEM) (Gibco BRL, USA)

Antibiotic-antimycotic solution (Gibco BRL, USA)

L-glutamine (Gibco BRL, USA)

Fetal bovine serum (Gibco BRL, USA)

Trypsin-EDTA (Gibco BRL, USA)

L-ascorbic acid

β-glycerophosphate

Dexamethasone

2. Scanning electron microscopy (SEM) materials

Osmium tetroxide (EMS, USA)

Glutaraldehyde (EMS, USA)

Phosphate buffer saline (PBS)

Ethanol

Coverslips

4. Alizarin red S (ARS) staining Alizarin red Ammonium hydroxide PBS

> Methyl alcohol Deionized water

. เมหาวิทยาล*ั*ห

5. CD105 staining

NCL-CD105 (mouse monoclonal antibody) (Novocastra¹¹¹)

Protease (Dipase) (Sigma, USA)

10% Formalin

EnVision+ System (Labelled polymer - HRP anti-mouse)

(DakoCytomation, USA)

DAB buffer

DAB solution

1% Hydrøgen peroxide

6. Bovine dermal collagen extraction

0.5 M acetic acid (HAc)

10% (w/v) sodium chloride (NaCl)

7. MTT assays

MTT ((3-(4,5)-dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2,5-diphenyl tetrazolium bromide)

(Sigma^{*}, USA)

Dimethylsulfoxide (DMSO)

Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium (DMEM) without phenol red

8. Equipments

Laminar flow unit (Microflow, MDH Ltd, England)

24 well plate (Falcon, USA)

35 and 60 mm tissue culture dish (Falcon, USA)

Scale (Metler Toledo, Switzerland)

Centrifuge (Clay-Adams, New York)

Inverted phase contrast microscope (Olympus CK2, Japan)

Light microscope (Olympus BH2, Japan)

Carbon dioxide (CO.) incubator (TC2323, Shel Lab, USA)

Scanning electron microscope (Jeol JSM-5410 LV, Japan)

Shell freezer (Mini-Shell, USA)

Lyophilizer (Flexi-Dry MP, USA) Centrifuge (6K15, Sigma) Rongeur forceps

3.2 Methods

3.2.1 Collagen isolation and preparation

Fresh bovine skin was obtained from the slaughterhouse. To isolate type I collagen, bovine skin was prepared by using neutral salt and diluted acid extractions (Bazin and Delaumay, 1976). Initially, the tissue was cleaned with water, finely chopped after dissecting away the excessive fatty tissue, cut into small pieces, and put in 0.5 M HAc with stirring. The extractant was centrifuged at 11200 rpm 4°C for 1 h. The pellet was discarded and the collagen was precipitated from the supernatant by adding 10% (w/v) NaCI. Collagen precipitate was collected by centrifugation at 11200 rpm 4°C for 1 h. The collagen precipitate was dissolved in 0.5 M HAc and dialysed against 0.1 M HAc. It was finally shell frozen by cooled ethanol and lyophilized approximate 48 h. Bovine dermal collagen had the white sponge-like appearance. The collagen sponge was dissolved in 0.1 M HAc, the final concentration of collagen solution is 0.1 mg/mL.

3.2.2 OPN preparation

Recombinant rat OPN-generated from bacteria (kindly provided by Associate Professor Pi-Ling Chang, University of Alabama at Birmingham, USA), was dissolved in simple α MEM. OPN solution was heated at 37°C for 30 min to 1 h, aliquoted, sealed with paraffin and frozen at -80°C prior to use. The final concentration of OPN solution is 10 µg/mL which was suggested by Associate Professor Pi-Ling Chang as nontoxic concentration for human BMSCs-aspirate from iliac crest.

จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย

3.2.3 Sponge fabrication

In the pilot study, various proportions of mixed OPN solution with collagen solution from 1:9 to 9:1 were prepared. The OPN/collagen sponge in the proportions of 2:8 to 9:1 could not be used due to poor physical properties. Therefore, the proportion 1:9 of OPN/collagen was used for further study.

Mixed 1 mL of 10 µg/mL OPN solution with 9 mL of 0.1 mg/mL bovine dermal collagen dissolved in 0.5 M HAc. The OPN/collagen mixture was then dialysed against 0.1 M HAc. It was finally shell frozen by cooled ethanol and lyophilized approximate 24 h. The sponge was sealed with paraffin and stored at room temperature before testing.

3.2.4 Bone marrow samples and criteria of subjects

Bone marrow samples were collected from three physically healthy patients who needed the bone removal for treatment. The subjects were male or female with the age of 20 or more. Within three months prior to bone surgery, antimicrobial or corticosteroid drug users were excluded. Bone marrow was obtained at the time of torectomy procedure for prosthetic reasons in the Department of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery , Faculty of Dentistry, Chulalongkorn University. Before collection of the human tissue samples, the process of tissue collection was approved by the Ethics Committee of Faculty of Dentistry, Chulalongkorn University and the bone marrow samples were collected with the signed informed consents from the subjects.

3.2.5 Bone marrow stromal cell culture

Small pieces of bone marrow samples were washed several times with simple αMEM to remove adherent erythrocytes and lipid. The samples were cut with Rongeur forceps into 1-2 mm³ fragments, then placed in 35 mm tissue culture dishes. The culture medium was added into the culture dishes which were kept in the CO₂ incubator at 37 °C and absolute humidity. The medium was changed every three days. Nonadherent and hematopoietic cells were removed on the first day, during medium changes, leaving the human BMSCs for culture. The first to fourth passage of BMSC culture was identified the characteristics of stem cells by using CD105

immunohistochemical staining. The culture medium for the fifth passage was added with the osteogenic inducers. The human BMSCs at the fifth passage were used for all other experimental assays. Culture medium for BMSCs in the first to fourth passage was prepared by α MEM supplement with 10% fetal bovine serum, 1% antibioticantimycotic solution and 1% L-glutamine. Addition of 10 mM β-glycerophosphate , 50 µg/mL ascorbic acid and 100 nM dexamethasone as osteogenic inducers were used only for the BMSCs in the fifth passage (Jaiswal et al., 1997; Pittenger et al., 1999).

3.3 Observation and Measurements

3.3.1 Physical appearance of the OPN/collagen sponge

The physical appearance and the pore size of OPN/bovine dermal collagen sponge were observed in semithin plastic sections under light microscope and SEM.

3.3.2 Identification of the human BMSCs and osteoblastic cells

3.3.2.1 Identification of the human BMSCs

BMSCs in the fourth passage were identified the characteristics of the stem cells by using standard immunohistochemical staining. Briefly, the BMSCs culture was kept in 4 °C overnight. After washed several times with PBS and fixed with 10% formalin for an hour. BMSCs were digested with protease enzyme at 37 °C for 15 min. After washing twice with PBS, the culture was incubated with monoclonal antibody to CD105 at 4 °C overnight. Then Envision+ System was added to the samples at room temperature for an hour. The antigen – antibody reaction was visualized by adding DAB solution for 10 min. Staining was evaluated as either positive or negative under light microscope by two independent observers.

3.3.2.2 Identification of osteoblastic cells

Alizarin red S staining

Calcium-rich deposit by the 30-day-old human BMSCs in fifth passage was evaluated by the use of ARS staining (Putchler, Meloan and Terry, 1969; Gregory et al., 2004). Samples were washed with PBS, fixed with 4°C methyl alcohol for 10 min, and washed with distilled water. ARS solution was prepared by mixing Alizarin red, ammonium hydroxide, and deionized water in the proportion 1 g: 1 mL: 100 mL respectively and added in the culture plates for staining. Staining was evaluated as either positive or negative by two independent observers.

3.3.3 Response of human BMSCs to collagen, OPN and OPN/collagen substrate

3.3.3.1. Cell morphology and attachment study

The coverslips were cut into small pieces (3x3 mm), then placed in 35 mm tissue culture dishes. The coverslips in culture dishes were coated with 0.1 mg/mL collagen solution, 10 µg/mL OPN solution and mixed OPN/collagen solution (1:1 by volume). Non-coated coverslips were used as control. Human BMSCs from the fifth passage from each patient were seeded in culture dishes at the cell density of 5x10⁴ cells/mL. The culture was kept in the CO₂ incubator at 37°C and absolute humidity. The medium was changed every three days. Cell attachment and cell morphology of the cells on coverslips were observed by SEM at the 10-day culture.

3.3.3.2. Cell proliferation study

The cell proliferation of the human BMSCs exposed to collagen, OPN and OPN/collagen was measured by using MTT assay (Mosmann, 1983; Kasugai, Hasekawa and Okura, 1991).

Human BMSCs from the fifth passage were seeded in 24-well plate at

the cell density of 3×10^4 cells/mL. At day 2, culture medium supplemented with 0.1 mg/mL collagen solution, 10 µg/mL OPN solution and mixed OPN/collagen solution (1:9 by volume) were added in each groups as in figure 1. The culture medium without FBS served as control. The culture plate was incubated in the CO₂ incubator at 37 °C and absolute humidity for 3 days.



Figure 1 demonstrates each condition in 24-well plate for cell proliferation test.

MTT solution was prepared by dissolving MTT with PBS (5 mg in 1 mL of PBS). The solution was filtered through with 0.22 µm filter. For the MTT reaction, culture medium was replaced by 50 µL of MTT solution and 300 µL of DMEM without phenol red. The culture plate was incubated in the CO₂ incubator at 37 °C and absolute humidity for 4 h. DMSO 1000 µL was added into each well after removal of the MTT solution. The obtained purple solution was immediately measured by spectrophotometer at 570 nm wavelength. Each experiment was repeated 5 times by using the cells from three patients.

จุฬาลงกรณ่มหาวิทยาลัย

3.3.4 Response of human BMSCs to OPN/collagen sponge

For investigation of the cells in the sponge, OPN/collagen sponges were cut into 2x8x8 mm, then placed in 35 mm tissue culture dishes. Human BMSCs from the fifth passage from each patient were seeded in culture dishes with OPN/collagen sponge at the cell density of 5x10⁴ cells/mL. The culture was kept in the CO₂ incubator at 37 °C and absolute humidity. The medium was changed everyday. Observation of the cell attachment and cell morphology on the sponges was performed by SEM at the 5-day culture.

3.4 Analysis of the data

Descriptive analysis was used for observation of the sponge microstructure, cell morphology and cell attachment.

The One-sample Kolmogorov-Smirnov test was used to test the normal distribution of the data. The data of cell proliferation by MTT assay were not normally distributed, then the Kruskal-Wallis H test was performed to compare among groups. A critical level of 0.05 was employed. Thus, p-value less than 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

3.5 Ethical consideration

The protocol was approved by the Ethic Committee of the Faculty of Dentistry, Chulalongkorn University No. 95. 64 / 2550.

จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย

CHAPTER IV

RESULTS

4.1 Physical appearance of the OPN/collagen sponge

OPN/bovine dermal collagen sponge had soft consistency and white sponge-like appearance (Figure 2). When put the sponge into the culture medium, the sponge absorbed the medium and was softer.



Figure 2 demonstrates the white sponge-like collagen prepared from bovine skin in different shapes.

When observed in semithin plastic sections under light microscope and SEM on the cross section of OPN/collagen sponge prepared, it was porous. The pores had polyhedral structure with the pore diameter ranged from $20 - 100 \,\mu$ m (Figure 3 and Figure 4).



Figure 3 demonstrates the cross section of the porous OPN/collagen sponge. (Original magnification 10x)



Figure 4 demonstrates the porous structure of the OPN/collagen sponge from SEM.

4.2 Identification of the human BMSCs and osteoblastic cells

In identification of stem cell by monoclonal antibody to CD105, the cultured cells in the fourth passage showed brown stained plasma membrane of the cells (Figure 5).



Figure 5 demonstrates the CD105 positive cells of BMSCs (arrow) (Original magnification 20X).



To confirm the type of the BMSCs, ARS staining was utilized to stain the cultured cells in the fifth passage. The staining showed formation and deposition of calcium salt, which was seen as the calcified nodule and positively stained by ARS (Figure 6).



nodules were positively stained by ARS (arrow in B) (Original magnification

40X)

4.3 Response of human BMSCs to collagen, OPN and OPN/collagen substrate

4.3.1 Cell morphology and attachment study

SEM was used in this study to observe cell attachment and population of attached cells. The SEM results showed the good spreading of cells and good cell attachment in the group of OPN/collagen coated coverslips. In the group of collagen coated coverslips and OPN coated coverslips, the results showed the good cell attachment, however, the spreading of cells was less than the group of OPN/collagen coated coverslips (Figure 7A, C, E and G). With the increased magnification, the control group and the group of OPN/collagen coated coverslips showed the good spreading of cells and good cell attachment. Extending cytoplasmic processes of the cells were generally found. This formed the attachment with the adjacent cells and surrounding contact area. The surface texture of the cells was smooth. In the group of collagen coated coverslips, there was less spreading of the cells. compared to the first two groups. Extending cytoplasmic processes of the cells were rarely found. In addition, the bleb formation was found differently in size. There were also found large size of blebs and disrupted blebs, especially in the OPN coated coverslips group (Figure 7B, D, F and H).



Figure 7 scanning electron micrographs at the low magnification (A, C, E, G) and higher magnification (B, D, F, H) show structures and attachment of cells grown on the surfaces coated with collagen (C, D), OPN (E, F) and mixed OPN/collagen (G, H) in comparison to the control group in which the cells were grown on the uncoated surface (A, B). The inset in F reveals disrupted blebs at the surface of the cell exposed to OPN.

4.3.2 Cell proliferation study

MTT assays demonstrated the increasing of BMSCs proliferation to 106.88 ± 3.85% and 118.12 ± 6.14%, respectively (P < 0.05), when the cells were exposed to the collagen solution and mixed OPN/collagen solution. Comparing to the control group, MTT assay of the cells exposed to the OPN solution demonstrated the decrease in cell number to 63.15 ± 8.03% (P < 0.05). Arranging the study groups and control group according to the capability of inducing BMSCs cell proliferation, mixed OPN/collagen solution had the highest capability followed by collagen group, the control group, and OPN group, respectively (P < 0.05) (Figure 8).



Figure 8 graph, plotted from the MTT study, demonstrates the percentages of cell number when the cells were grown in the 24-well plate supplemented with collagen, OPN or mixed OPN/collagen (OPN/COL) solution in comparison to the control group in which the cells were grown on the non-supplemented plate (* asterisks represent statistically significant difference among groups at P < 0.05).

4.4 Response of human BMSCs to OPN/collagen sponge

In exposure of BMSCs to OPN/collagen scaffold, there were proliferation and contact of BMSCs to the sponge (Figure 9).



Figure 9 inverted phase contrast micrograph demonstrates the 5-day-old BMSCs culture with OPN/collagen sponge (Original magnification 40x).

With the SEM results of the fifth passage BMSCs cultured with OPN/collagen sponge in day 5, there were cell proliferation and cell attachment on the sponge and into the sponge (Figure 10).



Figure 10 scanning electron micrograph demonstrates attached and proliferated BMSCs on OPN/collagen sponge at day 5.

CHAPTER V

DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSIONS

Discussion

The important role of the tissue-engineered scaffold is to provide a matrix of a specific geometric configuration in which seeded cells may grow and produce the desired tissue or organ (Abukawa et al., 2006). The ideal scaffold should have threedimension and highly porosity with an interconnected pore network for cell growth and effective transportation of nutrients and metabolic waste, biocompatible, bioabsorbable with a controllable biodegradation time, allowed for cell penetration, attachment, proliferation, and differentiation (Hutmacher, 2000; Vats et al., 2003; Abukawa et al., 2006). Collagen is also one of the naturally derived scaffolds, which has been developed. Collagen has been widely used in human tissue engineering for medical applications. It plays an essential role in providing a biological scaffold for cellular activities that influence cell attachment, migration, and even differentiation (Yang et al., 2004). The recent development of collagen is focusing on bone engineering, threedimensional scaffolds for seeding of mesenchymal stem cells (Xiao et al., 2003; Juncosa-Melvin et al., 2005; Hou et al., 2007). From the pilot study, when mixed OPN solution with collagen solution in the various proportions from 1:9 to 9:1, the OPN/collagen sponges in the proportions of 2:8 to 9:1 could not be used due to poor physical properties for being the scaffolds. The mixture of 1 mL of 10 µg/mL OPN solution with 9 mL of 0.1 mg/mL bovine dermal collagen was the most suitable ratio and this concentration was chosen to fabricate the OPN/collagen sponge. When evaluating the physical appearances of collagen sponge, the sponge prepared in this study is similar to collagen sponge available in the market. It has been previously reported that the cell attachment and viability in collagen-glycosaminoglycan scaffold were low when the mean pore size was higher than 100-150 µm and the cells increased their viability with decreasing pore sizes until no cells could fit into the pores (O'Brien et al., 2005). OPN/collagen scaffold in this study showed high porosity with the pore diameters of 20 -100 µm which should be appropriate for cell survival, this three-dimensional scaffold

can provide a cellular matrix analog that will serve as a necessary substrate for the cells of the healing process to infiltrate and a physical support to guide the penetration, proliferation and differentiation of cells toward the targeted functional tissue.

The first antibody used for identification of mesenchymal stem cells was STRO-1 (Dennis et al., 2002; Gronthos et al., 2003). Later, many types of stem cell markers were reported, such as CD10, CD13, CD14, CD34, CD45, CD73, CD90, CD105, CD117, CD133, CD144 (Jones et al., 2002; Tuli et al., 2003). CD105 or Endoglin is an endothelial homodimeric membrane glycoprotein containg the peptide sequence RGD which is a recognition motif for adhesion receptors of the integrin family (Lastres et al., 1992). It has been proposed that Endoglin is a transforming growth factor (TGF)- β receptor (O'Connell et al., 1992) and differentiation of macrophage (López-Casillas et al., 1991). CD105 is expressed on human macrophage, endothelial cells of capillaries, arterioles and venules in a variety of tissues (Lastres et al., 1992). In this study, CD105 was employed to characterize the mesenchymal progenitor cells from human bone marrow. The cultured cells in the fourth passage showed positive reaction at the plasma membrane of the cells. This staining pattern agreed with the previous studies and confirmed that the BMSCs isolated from the subjects and cultured in the laboratory in this study were mesenchymal stem cells (Jones et al., 2002; Tuli et al., 2003).

In 1995, Standford et al reported ARS staining could be used to detect mineral formation by detecting calcium mineral deposition in the ECM and what appeared to be intracellular paranuclear staining. Bodine, Trailsmith and Komm (1996) characterized human osteoblastic cell lines by ARS histochemical staining and demonstrated that these cells could produce mineralized nodules. Venugopal and colleagues (2007) utilized ARS staining to identify mineral calcium and phosphorous deposited on the surface of osteoblast cells on the polycaprolactone/hydroxyapatite - modified nanofibrous scaffolds. From the observation under inverted phase contrast microscope in our study, the BMSCs showed the property of cell aggregation or cluster forming. Furthermore, these cells induced by culture medium supplemented with osteogenic inducers represented their ability to form calcified nodules which positively stained by ARS. These results suggested that the cells in this study were bone-forming cells.

To study biocompatibility of the novel scaffold, both the inverted phase contrast microscope and SEM were used to evaluate the response of BMSCs to OPN/collagen sponge. The cell proliferation, contact and attachment to the sponge, which represented biocompatibility between OPN/collagen scaffold and BMSCs were observed. In the recent studies, ECM such as glycosaminoglycans, chondroitin sulphate, and heparan sulphate are being used increasingly as the tissue-engineered scaffold (Pieper et al., 1999; Pieper et al., 2000; van Susante et al., 2001). Moreover, gelatin is also used as the scaffold for bone regeneration (Rohanizadeh, Swain and Mason, 2008). With the advantages of ECM in good properties, flexibility, biocompatibility, and biodegradability, it has the potential to be used as a scaffold to support the osteoblasts and to promote bone regeneration in defective areas. These investigators also investigated cell penetration into the sponges using haematoxylineosin staining. Both composite and plain gelatin sponges demonstrated the ability to support cell growth and enhance cell penetration into the sponge pores (Rohanizadeh et al., 2008).

To simulate the environment associated with human bone regeneration, particular elements, for example, human BMSCs, which had been potentially differentiated into osteoblasts in the optimum environment and proper stimulation was shown in this study. In addition, collagen which has been used in various medical treatments, and the OPN which has the stimulation signal for development and differentiation of primary osteoblast to osteoblast, was also used in this study.

To study the proliferative effect possibly induced by collagen and OPN, MTT assay was performed in this study. Mosmann (1983) suggested that MTT assay is the suitable method to investigate cell survival and proliferation of cultured cells as well as evaluate products of vital cells under various conditions in vitro. This method identifies cell proliferation by counting vital cell number and evaluating products of vital cells under various conditions from MTT assay in our study were initially analyzed for distribution of the data utilizing One-sample Kolmogorov-Smirnov test. The data was not normally distributed. The Kruskal-Wallis H test was performed to compare among each group. From the MTT assay and SEM observations,

mixed OPN/collagen solution showed the highest cell proliferation, which was statistically significant, followed by collagen solution. Mixed OPN/collagen solution also presented its capability to promote cell attachment. In contrast, OPN solution alone demonstrated the decrease in cell number. To clarify this result, the dynamic of cell development and proliferation in vital structure, and the roles of collagen and OPN must be seriously taken into consideration.

In multicellular organism, the major key of cell development is the cell ability in communication and reaction to the other cells and to the environment. These communications require appropriate ECM (Alberts et al., 2002). The mechanism of cell proliferation, firstly, depends on the optimal attachment of cells onto adhered surfaces or substrates. Then, the formation of cell - ECM interaction is occurred via integrin receptor. The better cell attachment will result in proper cytoskeleton organization and cell response. As the cells stabilize on the substrate, growth factor receptors are produced to react to the growth factors resulting in production of various kinds of proteins essential for cell development and differentiation. It was suggested to be multisteps in the biological processes in cells, however, it has not yet clearly explained (Juliano and Haskill, 1993). According to these processes, ECM plays an important role in cell attachment influencing the cell behavior and development.

Collagen is one of the ECM that is the most abundant structural proteins in human body. Collagen molecules have the particular part, which potentially promote cell adhesion, proliferation and differentiation of mesenchymal stem cells (Liu et al., 2004; Garcia and Reyes 2005). It has been used in the field of medical treatment for decades. OPN is also one of the ECM and presently is classified as the matricellular protein. Matricellular proteins, separated from other structural ECM, are related to reaction between cells, other ECM, and growth factors leading to growth and differentiation of cell more than promotion of cell attachment (Sage and Bornstein, 1991). Even though, the high level of OPN is presently reported in several tumor metastasis (Matsuzaki et al., 2007). OPN still has important roles in development of cells in relation to cell attachment, signal transduction, and development of osteoblast (Yabe et al., 1997; Liu et al., 1997a; Liu et al., 1997b) including tissue repair and remodeling process (Kaartinen et al., 1999). OPN molecule also provides particular part, which promotes cell attachment via intregin receptor (O'Regan and Berman. 2000; Mazzali et al., 2002). Additionally, it can stimulate alkaline phosphatase gene expression by the focal adhesion kinase phosphorylation pathway (Yabe et al., 1997). This leads to the differentiation of pre-osteoblasts to osteoblasts (Liu et al., 1997b).

In this study, the BMSCs showed good cell attachment in the collagen supplemented medium. When the cells were firmly attached, the cell proliferation was increased in both collagen and mixed OPN/collagen solutions. In the group of mixed OPN/collagen solution, the highest cell proliferation was observed. This highest proliferation may be related to the role of OPN in assisting the reaction between cells. and growth factors and promoting cell proliferation. The concentration of OPN solution used in this study was proved in The United States with no toxicity to the human BMSCs, but in the group of OPN supplemented medium, the result showed the decrease in cell number compare to other groups. With the variety of cell response, racial or genetic differences may influence the results altered. This situation can be explained as the major involvement of OPN, which was associated with cell signaling and differentiation more than promotion of cell attachment and spreading (Sodek, Batista Da Silva and Zohar, 2006; Sodek, Ganss and McKee 2000). As a result, the decrease of cell attachment led to the decrease of cell growth. Another explanation for the decrease of cell number in this group was the high concentration of OPN which led to the inhibition of cell attachment. Even though, there was no obvious toxicity of OPN to cells found in this study, excessive volume of OPN may act as a negative signal to the cytoskeletal organization, which resulted in poor cell attachment. The effect of protein concentration on cell behavior was reported in some studies. For instance, TGF-B at the low concentration stimulated the production and secretion of PDGF. In contrast, with the high concentration, the TGF-β inhibited PDGF receptor (Gronwald, Seifert and Bowen-Pope, 1989). Even if there was decrease in cell number with concentrated OPN solution, the low concentration of OPN combined with collagen provided the increased cell number in this study. Considering along with the previous study which

demonstrated that porous hydroxyapatite coated with OPN induced BMSCs to produce forty percent higher bone formation in animal model compared to control group (Uemura et al., 2001), OPN might be worth developing as a morphogen for bone regeneration.

Conclusions

Both collagen and OPN/collagen solutions enhanced the human BMSC proliferation and attachment. The enhancement is increased with the addition of OPN. The novel OPN/collagen sponge has good characteristics and biocompatibility to human BMSCs. These results suggest that the mixture of collagen and OPN was advantageous to the BMSCs. Therefore, it might be worth introducing them to the field of bone regeneration.

Suggestions

From the result of this study, we founded that the OPN concentration used in OPN group (10 µg/mL) was excessive. Hence, the lower concentration, such as, 1:9 dilution of OPN solution should be used for comparing with the mixture of OPN/collagen solution in future study. Although, the OPN/collagen sponge developed in this study showed its beneficial in bone regeneration, the physical properties are not yet appropriate in clinical use since its consistency when moistened with culture medium is too soft. There should be improvement of the physical properties of the scaffold. Cross-linking with glutaraldehyde or ultraviolet light exposure might help increase the strength, stability and expand absorption period of the scaffold. Finally, the results of this study revealed that OPN/collagen had good biocompatibility, and increased capability to enhance human BMSC attachment and cell proliferation stimulation. Hence, these particular proteins, especially in sponge form, should be further developed and studied in animal and human to prove their safety and effectiveness in inducing bone regeneration.

References

- Abukawa H, Papadaki M, Abulikemu M, Leaf J, Vacanti JP, Kaban LB, et al. 2006. The engineering of craniofacial tissues in the laboratory: a review of biomaterials for scaffolds and implant coatings. Dent Clin N Am 50:205-216.
- Abukawa H, Terai H, Hannouche D, Vacanti JP, Kaban LB, Troulis MJ. 2003. Formation of a mandibular condyle in vitro by tissue engineering. J Oral Maxillofac Surg 61:94-100.
- Agrawal CM, Athanasiou KA. 1997. Techniques to control pH in vicinity of biodegrading PLA-PGA implants. J Biomed Mater Res Appl Biomater 38:105-114.
- Alberts B, Johnson A, Lewis J, Raff M, Roberts K, Walter P, editors. 2002. The extracellular matrix of animals, <u>Molecular biology of the cell</u>. fourth edition, 1090-1113. New York: Garland Science.
- Bazin S, Delaumay A. 1976. Preparation of acid and citrate soluble collagen. In: Hall DA, editor, <u>The methodology of connective tissue research</u>, 13-18. Oxford: Joynson-Bruvvers.
- Beresford JN.1989. Osteogenic stem cells and the stromal system of bone and marrow. Clin Orthop 240:270-280.
- Bianco P, Riminucci M, Gronthos S, Robey PG. 2001. Bone marrow stromal stem cells: nature, biology, and potential applications. <u>Stem cells</u> 19:180-192.
- Bodine PV, Trailsmith M, Komm BS. 1996. Development and characterization of a conditionally transformed adult human osteoblastic cell line. <u>J Bone Miner Res</u> 11:806-819.
- Boo JS, Yamada Y, Okazaki Y, Hibino Y, Okada K, Hata K, et al. 2002. Tissuedengineered bone using mesenchymal stem cells and biodegradable scaffold. J Craniofac Surg 13:231-239.

Boot-Handford RP, Tuckwell DS, Plumb DA, Rock CF, Poulsom R. 2003. A novel and highly conserved collagen (pro(alpha)1(XXVII)) with a unique expression pattern and unusual molecular characteristics established a new clade within the vertebrate fibrillar collagen family. J Biol Chem 278:31067-31077.

- Calvert JW, Marra KG, Cook L, Kumta PN, DiMilla PA, Weiss LE. 2000. Characterization of osteoblast-like behavior of cultured bone marrow stromal cells on various polymer surfaces. J Biomed Mater Res 52:279-84.
- Chen D, Ji X, Harris MA, Feng JQ, Karsenty G, Celeste AJ, et al. 1998. Differential roles for bone morphogenetic protein (BMP) receptor type IB and IA in differentiation and specification of mesenchymal precursor cells to osteoblast and adipocyte lineages. J Cell Biol 142:295-305.
- Cho BC, Kim JY, Lee JH, Chung HY, Park JW, Roh KH, et al. 2004. The bone regenerative effect of chitosan microsphere encapsulated growth hormone on bony consolidation in mandibular distraction osteogenesis in a dog model. J Craniofac Surg 15:299-311.
- Chou AM, Sae-Lim V, Hutmacher DW, Lim TM. 2006. Tissue engineering of a periodontal ligament-alveolar bone graft construct. Int J Oral Maxillofac Implants 21:526-534.
- Chu TM, Orton DG, Hollister SJ, Feinberg SE, Halloran JW. 2002. Mechanical and in vivo performance of hydroxyapatite implants with controlled architectures. Biomaterials 23:1283-1293.
- Colen LB, Mathes SJ. 1983. The use of microcrystalline collagen in microsurgery and its effect in anastomotic patency. Ann Plast Surg 9:471-474.
- Constantino PD, Friedman CD. 1994. Synthetic bone graft substitutes. <u>Otolaryngol Clin</u> North Am 27:1037-1074.
- DeLacure MD, 1994, Physiology of bone healing and bone grafts. <u>Otolaryngol Clin</u> <u>North Am</u> 27:859-874.

Delbalso AM, Adrian JC. 1976. Collagen gel in osseous defects: a preliminary study.

Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol 42:562-569.

Surg 79:581-594.

DeLustro F, Smith ST, Sundsmo J, Salem G, Kincaid S, Ellingsworth L. 1987. Reaction to injectable collagen: results in animal model and clinical use. <u>Plast Reconstr</u>

Denhardt DT, Guo X. 1993. Osteopontin: a protein with diverse functions. FASEB J 7:1475-1482.

- Dennis JE, Carbillet JP, Caplan AI, Charbord P. 2002. The STRO-1+ marrow cell population is multipotential. <u>Cell Tissues Organs</u> 170:73-82.
- Garcia AJ, Reyes CD. 2005. Bio-adhesive surfaces to promote osteoblast differentiation and bone formation. J Dent Res 84:407-413.
- Gregory CA, gunn WG, Peister A, Prockop DJ. 2004. An Alizarin red-based assay of mineralization by adherent cells in culture: comparison with cetylpyridinium chloride extraction. <u>Analyt Biochem</u> 329:77-84.
- Gronthos S, Akintoye SO, Wang CY, Shi S. 2006. Bone marrow stromal stem cells for tissue engineering. <u>Periodontol2000</u> 41:188-195.
- Gronthos S, Zannettino AC, Hay SJ, Shi S, Graves SE, Kortesidis A, et al. 2003. Molecular and cellular characterization of highly purified stromal stem cells derived from human bone marrow. <u>J Cell Sci</u> 116:1827-1835.
- Gronwald RG, Seifert RA, Bowen-Pope DF, 1989. Differentiation regulation of expression of two platelet-derived growth factor receptor subunits by transforming growth factor-beta. J Biol Chem 214:8120-8125.
- Handschel J, Weismann HP, Stratmann U, Kleinheinz J, Meyer U, Joos U. 2002. TCP is hardly resorbed and not osteoconductive in a non-loading calvarial model. <u>Biomaterials</u> 23:1689-1695.
- Hou LT, Liu CM, Liu BY, Chang PC, Chen MH, Ho MH, et al. 2007. Tissue engineering bone formation in novel recombinant human bone morphogenic protein 2atelocollagen composite scaffolds. <u>J Periodontol</u> 78:335-343.
- Hutmacher DW, Hurzeler M, Schliephake H. 1996. A review of material properties of biodegradable and bioresorbable polymers and devices for GTR and GBR applications. Int J Oral Maxiollofac Implants 11:667-678.
- Hutmacher DW. 2000. Scaffolds in tissue engineering bone and cartilage. <u>Biomaterials</u> 21:2529-2543.

Jaiswal N, Haynesworth SE, Caplan AI, Bruder SP. 1997. Osteogenic differentiation of purified, culture expanded human mesenchymal stem cells in vitro. <u>J Cell</u> <u>Biochem</u> 64:295-312.

Jayakrishnan A, Lameela SR, 1996. Glutaraldehyde as fixative in bioprostheses and drug delivery matrices. <u>Biomaterials</u> 17:471-484.

- Jones EA, Kinsey SE, English A, Jones RA, Straszynski L, Meredith DM, et al. 2002. Isolation and characterization of bone marrow multipotential mesenchymal progenitor cells. <u>Arthritis Rheum</u> 46:3349-3360.
- Juncosa-Melvin N, Boivin GP, Galloway MT, Gooch C, West JR, Sklenka AM, et al. 2005. Effects of cell-to-collagen ratio in mesenchymal stem cell-seeded implants on tendon repair biomechanics and histology. <u>Tissue Eng</u> 11:448-457.
- Johnson KD, August A, Sciadini MF, Smith C. 1996. Evaluation of ground cortical autograft as a bone graft material in a new canine bilateral segmental long bone defect model. J Orthop Trauma 10:28-36.
- Juliano RL, Haskill S. 1993. Signal transduction from the extracellular matrix. <u>J Cell Biol</u> 120:577-85.
- Kaartinen MT, Pirhonen A, Linnala-Kankkunen A, Mäenpää PH. 1999. Cross-linking of osteopontin by tissue transglutaminase increases its collagen binding properties. J Biol Chem 15:1729-1735.
- Kasugai S, Hasekawa N, Okura H. 1991. Application of the MTT colorimetric assay to measure cytotoxic effects of phenolic compounds on established rat dental pulp cells. J Dent Res 70:127-30.
- Kuznetsov SA, Mankani MH, Gronthos S, Satomura K, Bianco P, Robey PG. 2001. Circulating skeletal stem cells. <u>J Cell Biol</u> 153:1133-1140.
- Lastres P, Bellon T, Cabañas C, Sanchez-Madrid F, Acevedo A, Gougos A, et al. 1992. Regulated expression on human macrophages of endoglin, an Arg-Gly-Aspcontaining surface antigen. Eur J Immunol 22: 393-397.
- Lee YM, Park YJ, Lee SJ, Ku Y, Han SB, Choi SM, et al. 2000. Tissue engineered bone formation using chitosan/tricalcium phosphate sponges. <u>J Periodontol</u> 71:410-

Liu G, Hu YY, Zhao JN, Wu SJ, Xiong Z, Lu R. 2004. Effect of type I collagen on the adhesion, proliferation, and osteoblastic gene expression of bone marrowderived mesenchymal stem cells. <u>Chin J Traumatol</u> 7:358-362.

Liu YK, Nemoto Y, Feng T, Uemura T. 1997a. The binding ability to matrix proteins and the inhibitory effects on cell adhesion of synthetic peptides derived from a conserved sequence of integrins. <u>J Biochem</u> 121:961-968.

- Liu YK, Uemura T, Nemoto A, Yabe T, Fujii N, Ushida T, et al. 1997b. Osteopontin involvement in integrin-mediated cell signaling and regulation of expression of alkaline phosphatase during early differentiation of UMR cells. <u>FEBS Letters</u> 420:112-116.
- López-Casillas F, Cheifetz S, Doody J, Andres JL, Lane WS, Massagué J. 1991. Structure and expression of the membrane proteoglycan betaglycan, a component of the TGF-beta receptor system. <u>Cell</u> 67: 785-795.
- Malyanker UM, Almeida M, Johnson RJ, Pichler RH, Giachelli CM. 1997. Osteopontin regulation in cultured rat renal epithelial cells. <u>Kidney Int</u> 51:1766-1773.
- Matsuzaki H, Shima K, Muramatsu T, Ro Y, Hashimoto S, Shibahara T, et al. 2007 Osteopontin as biomarker in early invasion by squamous cell carcinoma in tongue. J Oral Pathol Med 36:30-34.
- Mazzali M, Kipari T, Ophascharoensuk V, Wesson JA, Johnson R, Hughes J. 2002. Osteopontin- a molecule for all seasons. <u>QJM</u> 95:3-13.
- Mosmann T. 1983. Rapidly colimeric assay for cellular growth and survival: application to proliferation and cytotoxicity assay, J Immonol 65:55-63.
- Nakashima M, Reddi AH. 2003. The application of bone morphogenetic proteins to dental tissue engineering. <u>Nature Biotechnol</u> 21:1025-1032.
- O'Brien ER, Garvin MR, Stewart DK, Hinohara T, Simpson JB, Schwartz SM, et al. 1994. Osteopontin is synthesized by macrophage, smooth muscle, and endothelial cells in primary and restenotic human coronary atherosclerotic plaques. Arterioscler Thromb 14:1648-1656.
- O'Brien FJ, Harley BA, Yannas IV, Gibson LJ. 2005. The effect of pore size on cell adhesion in collagen-GAG scaffolds. <u>Biomaterials</u> 26: 433-441.
- O'Connell PJ, McKenzie A, Fisicaro N, Rockman SP, Pearse MJ, d'Apice AJ. 1992. Endoglin: a 180-kD endothelial cell and macrophage restricted differentiation molecule. Clin Exp Immunol 90: 154-159.

 Oliver RF, 1987, Scars and collagen implantation. <u>Burns</u> 13:S49-S55.
Omigbodun A, Ziolkiewicz P, Tessler C, Hoyer JR, Coutifaris C. 1997. Progesterone regulates osteopontin expression in human trophoblasts: a model of paracrine control in the placenta? <u>Endocrinology</u> 138:4308-4315.

- O'Regan AW, Chupp GL, Lowry JA, Goetschkes M, Mulligan N, Berman JS. 1999. Osteopontin is associated with T cells in sarcoid granulomas and has T cell adhesive and cytokine-like properties in vitro. J Immunol 162:1024-1031.
- O'Regan A, Berman JS. 2000. Osteopontin: a key cytokine in cell- mediated and granulomatous inflammation. Int J Exp Pathol 81:373-90.
- Patino MG, Neiders ME, Andreana S, Noble B, Cohen RE. 2002a. Collagen: an overview. Implant Dent 11:280-285.
- Patino MG, Neiders ME, Andreana S, Noble B, Cohen RE. 2002b. Collagen as an implantable material in medicine and dentistry. J Oral Imp 28:220-225.
- Pieper JS, Oosterhol PJ, Dijkstra PJ, Veerkamp JH, van Kuppevelt TH. 1999. Preparation and characterization of porous crosslinked collagenous matrices containing bioavailable chondroitin sulphate. <u>Biomaterials</u> 20:847-858.
- Pieper JS, van Wachem PB, van Luyn MJA, Brouwer LA, Hafmans T, Veerkamp JH, et al. 2000. Attachment of glycosaminoglycans to collagenous matrices modulates the tissue response in rats. <u>Biomaterials</u> 21:1689-1699.
- Pittenger MF, Mackay AM, Beck SC, Jaiswal RK, Douglas R, Mosca JD, et al. 1999. Multilineage potential of adult human mesenchymal stem cells. <u>Science</u> 284:143-147.
- Prockop DJ. 1997. Marrow stromal cells as stem cells for non-hematopoietic tissues. Science 276:71-74.
- Putchler H, Meloan S, Terry MS, 1969. On the history and mechanism of alizarin and alizarin red S stains for calcium. <u>J Histochem Cytochem</u> 17:110-124.
- Rohanizadeh R, Swain MV, Mason RS. 2008. Gelatin sponges (Gelfoam((R))) as a scaffold for osteoblasts. J Mater Sci Mater Med 19:1173-1182.
- Saadeh PB, Khosla RK, Mehrara BJ, Steinbrech DS, McCormick SA, DeVore DP, et al. 2001, Repair of a critical size defect in the rat mandible using allogenic type I collagen. J Craniofac Surg 12:573-579.

Sage EH, Bornstein P. 1991, Extracellular proteins that modulate cell matrix interaction: SPARC, tenascin and thrombospondin. J Biol Chem 266:14831-14834.

- Schliephake H, Gruber R, Dard M, Wenz R, Scholz S. 2004. Repair of calvarial defects in rats by prefabricated hydroxyapatite cement implants. <u>J Biomed Mater Res</u> 69:382-390.
- Shikinami Y, Okuno M. 1998. Bioresorbable devices made of forged composites of hydroxyapatite (HA) particles and poly-L-lactide (PLLA): part I. Basic characteristics. <u>Biomaterials</u> 20:859-877.
- Sodek J, Batista Da Silva AP, Zohar R. 2006. Osteopontin and mucosal protection. J Dent Res 85:404-415.

Sodek J, Ganss B, McKee MD. 2000. Osteopontin. Crit Rev Oral Biol Med 11:297-303.

- Stanford CM, Jacobson PA, Eanes ED, Lembke LA, Midura RJ. 1995. Rapidly forming apatitic mineral in an osteoblastic cell line (UMR 106-01 BSP). <u>J Biol Chem</u> 21:9420-9428.
- Tuli R, Tuli S, Nandi S, Wang ML, Alexander PG, Haleem-Smith H, et al. 2003. Characterization of multipotential mesenchymal progenitor cells derived from human trabecular bone. <u>Stem Cells</u> 21:681-693.
- Uemura T, Nemoto A, Liu YK, Kojima H, Dong J, Yabe T, et al. 2001. Osteopontin involvement in bone remodeling and its effects on in vivo osteogenic potential of bone marrow-derived osteoblasts/porous hydroxyapatite constructs. <u>Mater Sci</u> <u>Eng</u> 17:33-36.
- Vacanti CA, Bonassar I J. 1999. An overview of tissue engineered bone. <u>Clin Orthop</u> <u>Relat Res 367(Suppl):S375-381.</u>

van der Rest M, Garrone R. 1991. Collagen family of proteins. <u>FASEB J</u> 5:2814-2823. van Heest A, Swiontkowski M. 1999. Bone-graft substitutes. <u>Lancet</u> 353(Suppl.I):28-29. van Susante JLC, Pieper J, Buma P, van Kuppevelt TH, van Beunungen H, van der

Kraan PM, et al. 2001. Linkage of chondroitin-sulfate to type I collagen scaffolds stimulates the bioactivity of seeded chondrocytes in vitro. <u>Biomaterials</u> 22:2359-2369.

Vats A, Tolley NS, Polak JM, Gough JE. 2003. Scaffolds and biomaterials for tissue engineering: a review of clinical applications. <u>Clin Otolaryngol</u> 28:165-172.

- Venugopal J, Low S, Choon AT, Kumar AB, Ramakrishna S. 2007. Electrospun-modified nanofibrous scaffolds for the mineralization of osteoblast cells. <u>J Biomed Mater</u> <u>Res A</u> 13:408-417.
- Virolainen P, Vuorio E, Aro HT. 1997. Different healing rates of bone autografts, synthetic grafts, and allografts in an experimental rat model. Arch Orthop Trauma Surg 116:486-491.
- Wan DC, Nacamuli RP, Longaker MT, 2006. Craniofacial bone tissue engineering. Dent Clin N Am 50:175-190.
- Watson SP. 1999. Collagen receptor signaling in platelets and megakaryocytes. <u>Thromb Heamost 82:365-376</u>.
- Weber GF, Cantor H. 1996. The immunology of Eta-1/osteopontin. <u>Cytokine Growth</u> <u>Factor Rev</u> 7:241-248.
- Weissman IL. 2000. Stem cells: units of development, units of regeneration, and units in evolution. Cell 100:157-168.
- Xiao Y, Qian H, Young WG, Bartold PM. 2003. Tissue engineering for bone regeneration using differentiated alveolar bone cells in collagen scaffolds. <u>Tissue Eng</u> 9:1167-1177.
- Yabe T, Nemoto A, Uemura T. 1997. Recognition of osteopontin by rat bone marrow derived osteoblastic primary cells. <u>Biosci Biotechnol Biochem</u> 61:754-756.
- Yang C, Hillas PJ, Baez JA, Nokelainen M, Balan J, Tang J, et al. 2004. The application of recombinant human collagen in tissue engineering. <u>BioDrugs</u> 18:103-119.
- Young B, Heath JW. 2000, Wheater's functional histology, fourth edition. 66-69. Spain: Churchchill Livingstone,
- Yukna RA. 1993, Synthetic bone grafts in periodontics, Periodontol 2000 1:92-99.
- Zhang Y, Wang Y, Shi B, Cheng X. 2007. A platelet-derived growth factor releasing chitosan/coral composite scaffold for periodontal tissue engineering. <u>Biomaterials</u> 28:1515-1522.

จุฬาลงกรณ่มหาวิทยาลัย

APPENDICES

Appendix A



The picture shows fresh skin dissected from bovine tail.



The picture shows bovine collagen (the white supernatant) from salt precipitation.

Appendix B

The table shows the optical density (OD) collected from cell proliferation testing by MTT

Subject	Test number		Optical Der	cal Density (OD)		
		Control	Collagen	OPN	OPN_COL	
Subject 1	1	.226	.246	.150	.269	
	2	.228	.240	.169	.255	
	3	.230	.240	.145	.257	
	4	.232	.255	.138	.264	
	5	.239	.260	.158	.260	
Subject 2	1	.255	.241	.149	.268	
	2	.258	.255	.146	.306	
	3	.238	.248	.139	.297	
	4	.210	.260	.131	.278	
	5	.209	.258	.140	.262	
Subject 3	1	.211	.259	.169	.289	
	2	,244	.239	.152	.255	
	3	.219	.244	.133	.299	
	4	.245	.230	.139	.270	
	5	.222	.240	.137	.277	

Appendix C

Output from statistical analysis of cell proliferation test

Means

Case Processing Summary

	Cases					
	Inclu	ded	Exclu	uded	To	tal
	N	Percent	N	Percent	N	Percent
OD * Group	60	100.0%	0	.0%	60	100.0%

Group	Mean	Std. Deviation	Minimum	Maximum
Control	.23173	.014786	.209	.258
Collagen	.24767	.009529	.230	.260
OPN	.14633	.011757	.131	.169
OPN+Collagen	.27373	.016808	.255	.306
Total	.22487	.049925	.131	.306

Report

NPar Tests

One-Sample Kolmogorov-Smirnov Test

0		OD
N		60
Normal Parameters ^a	^b Mean	.22487
	Std. Deviation	.049925
Most Extreme	Absolute	.187
Differences	Positive	.128
	Negative	187
Kolmogorov-Smirnov	Z	1.449
Asymp. Sig. (2-tailed	000000	.030

- a. Test distribution is Normal.
- b. Calculated from data.

NPar Tests

Kruskal-Wallis Test

Ranks

	Group	N	Mean Rank
OD	Control	15	25.87
	Collagen	15	36.40
	OPN	15	8.00
	OPN+Collagen	15	51.73
	Total	60	

Test Statistics^{a,b}

	OD
Chi-Square	49.886
df	3
Asymp. Sig.	.000

a. Kruskal Wallis Test

b. Grouping Variable: Group

Appendix D



บันทึกข้อความ

ส่วนราษการ งานบริการวิธีขและพัฒนา คณะพันดแทบอิตารสร้างเคร ไทร 2188816 ไทรสาร 2188810 ที่ ขธ. 64/2550 วันที่ 24 ดุลากม 2550 เรื่อง แลการพิจารณาจริตธรรมการวิจัยในมนุษย์

เรียน วักหากเรรลงสุฒบดีฝ่ายวิจัย

กณะกรรมการที่จารณาจริยธรรมการวิจัยในมนุบย์ ได้ที่จารณาดัดสินโครงการวิจัยที่ยื่นเสนอขอรับ การที่จารณาจริยธรรมการรี่อง "การตอบสนครของสโครมักเซอก์จากใขกระดูกมนุบย์ที่มีต่อออสที่โอพอนทินและโครง รัวงออลที่โอพอนทิน/คอกลาเจนจากฝึวหนังวัวเมื่อศึกษาด้วยการเพาะเกี้ยงเซอล์" ผู้วิจัยหลัก พพ.ปภาคพรศ์ ศิริกุรรัดน์ มติของกณะกรรมการฯ ก็อ อบุบัติโคยไม่ปีเรื่อนใจ

จึงเวียนมาเพื่อไปรดพิจารณาดำเนินการดักไปด้วย จักขอบคุณอิจ

เรอรสาสตราจารธ์ คร. สุภัทรา อมาดอกูล) กรรมการและแหนานุการ

Recting the rothered

48

ข้อมูลและรายละเอียดเกี่ยวกับการทำวิจัยที่ใช้ประกอบการพิจารณาเข้าร่วมโครงการ (Inform Consent) และ เอกสารยินยอมเข้าร่วมการวิจัย (Consent Form)

การวิจัยเรื่อง

การตอบสนองของสโตรมัลเซลล์จากไขกระดูกมนุษย์ที่มีต่อออสทิโอพอนทินและโครงร่าง ออสทิโอพอนทิน/ คอลลาเจนจากผิวหนังวัว เมื่อศึกษาด้วยการเพาะเลี้ยงเซลล์

เนื่องจาก ผู้ช่วยศาสตราจารย์ ทันดแททย์สพจน์ ตามสายสม และคณะ สังกัดภาควิชา ปริทันตวิทยา คณะทันดแพทยศาสตร์ จฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย อยู่ในระหว่างการศึกษาวิจัย เกี่ยวกับการตอบสนองของ สโตรมัลเซลล์จากไขกระดูกรมุษย์ที่มีต่อออสทีโอพอนทิน และโครงร่างออสทิโอพอนทิน/คอลลาเจนจาก ผิวหนังวัว เมื่อศึกษาด้วยการเพาะเลี้ยงเขลล์ ซึ่งใน การทำวิจัยครั้งนี้ มีความจำเป็นต้องใช้กระดูณายในช่องปากบริเวณทอรัสมาทำการศึกษา ใน การนี้ คณะผู้วิจัยใคร่ขอความร่วมมือจากผู้ที่อาหาสมัครเข้าร่วมโครงการวิจัยจำนวน 3 ราย โดย ผู้เข้าร่วมการศึกษาต้องมีสุขภาพแข็งแรง อายุ 20 ปีขึ้นไป เป็นเพศหญิงหรือเพศชาย หากเป็นเพศ หญิงต้องไม่อยู่ระหว่างตั้งครรภ์ และผู้เข้าร่วมการวิจัย ต้องไม่ได้รับยาปฏิชีวนะหรือเลดียรอยด์ อย่างน้อย 3 เดือนก่อนการผ่าตัด ระยะเวลาที่เข้าร่วมการวิจัย คือ ระยะเวลาที่ผู้ป่วยเข้ารับการ ผ่าตัดประมาณสามชั่วใ<mark>มง</mark> คณะผู้วิ<mark>จัยใคร่ขอความขน</mark>ูเคราะห์จากท่าน ที่มารับการรักษาจาก คลินิกภาควิชาศัลยศาสตร์ช่องปาก ซึ่งมีความประสงค์ที่จะผ่าตัดกระดูกส่วนนี้ออกเพื่อการรักษา อยู่แล้ว โดยการที่ทำนจะให้หรือไม่ให้ความอนูเคราะห์ครั้งนี้ไม่ได้ส่งผลใด ๆ ต่อวิธีการรักษาหรือ ส่งผลข้างเคียงต่อสนภาพของทำนภายหลังการรักษา ทั้งนี้เพราะกระดูกที่จะนำไปศึกษานี้เป็น ส่วนที่จะต้องถูกตัดออกอยู่แล้วในกระบวนการรักษาของทันดแพทย์ที่ให้ต่อท่าน ในกรณีที่ท่าน ยินยอมให้ความอนูเคราะห์ ทางคณะผู้วิจัยขอรับรองว่าจะเก็บข้อมูลเฉพาะของท่านเป็นความลับ และจะใช้ข้อมูลจากกระดูกของท่านด้วยเหตุผลทางวิชาการเท่านั้น โดยผลจากการวิจัยนี้ จักเป็น ประโยชน์ต่อการหาแนวทางในการรักษาโรคในทางการแพทย์เป็นอย่างยิ่ง

หากท่านมีข้อสงเจ้ยอื่นใดเกี่ยวกับโครงการวิจัยนี้ กรุณาติดต่อที่ - ผู้ช่วยศาสตราจารย์ ทันดแพทย์ สุพจน์- ตามสายลม ภาควิชาปริทันตวิทยา คณะทันดแพทยศาสตร์ จุฬาลงกรณ์ มหาวิทยาลัย หมายแลบโทรศัพท์ 02-2188850

และเพื่อให้การดำเนินงานในโครงการวิจัยนี้สมบูรณ์ตามกระบวนการการทำวิจัยในมนุษย์ ผู้ที่ได้อ่านและเข้าใจในคำอธิบายวัตถุประสงค์ของโครงการวิจัยแล้วและอาสาสมัครที่จะเข้าร่วม โครงการนี้ โปรดลงนามในหนังสือแสดงเจตนายืนยอมเข้าร่วมการวิจัยด้วย ก่อนที่จะลงนามในใบยินยอมให้ทำการวิจัยนี้ ข้าพเจ้าได้รับการอธิบายจากผู้วิจัยถึง วัตถุประสงค์ของการวิจัย วิธีการวิจัย อันตราย หรือยาการที่อาจเกิดขึ้นจากการวิจัย หรือจาก ยาที่ใช้ รวมทั้งประโยชน์ที่จะเกิดขึ้นจากการวิจัยอย่างละเอียด และมีความเข้าใจดิแล้ว

ผู้วิจัยรับรองว่าจะตอบคำถามต่างๆ ที่ข้าพเจ้าสงสัยด้วยความเต็มใจไม่ปิดบังช่อนเร้น จนข้าพเจ้าพอใจ

ข้าพเจ้าเข้าร่วมโครงการวิจัยนี้โดยสมัครใจ ข้าพเจ้ามีสิทธิที่จะบอกเลิกการเข้าร่วมใน โครงการวิจัยนี้เมื่อใดก็ได้และการบอกเลิกการเข้าร่วมการวิจัยนี้ จะไม่มีผลต่อการรักษาโรคที่ ข้าพเจ้าจะพึงได้รับต่อไป ผู้ป่วยสามารถถอนตัวออกจากการวิจัยได้ทุกขณะ โดยไม่ต้องได้รับ โทษ หรือสูญเสียประโยชน์ซึ่งพึงได้รับ

ผู้วิจัยรับรองว่าจะเก็บข้อมูลเฉพาะเกี่ยวกับดัวข้าพเจ้าเป็นความลับ และจะเปิดเผยได้ เฉพาะในรูปที่เป็นสรุปผลการวิจัย การเปิดเผยข้อมูลเกี่ยวกับดัวข้าพเจ้าต่อหน่วยงานต่างๆ ที่ เกี่ยวข้องกระทำได้เฉพาะกรณีจำเป็น ด้วยเหตุผลทางวิชาการเท่านั้น

ผู้วิจัยรับรองว่าหากเกิดอันตรายใดๆ จากการวิจัยดังกล่าว ข้าพเจ้าจะได้รับการ รักษาพยาบาลโดยไม่คิดมูลค่า

ข้าพเจ้าได้อ่านข้อความข้างดันแล้ว และมีความเข้าใจดีทุกประการ และได้ลงนามในใบ ยินยอมนี้ด้วยความเต็มใจ



ลงนาม	
())
ลงนาม	
	(รองศาสตราจารย์ ทันตแพทย์หญิง ตร.สมพร-สวัสดีสรรพ์)
ลงนาม	พยาน
	(นางมาลี ตั้งพิสิฐโยธิน)
ลงบาม	
	(ผู้ช่วยศาสตราจารย์ ทันตแพทย์สุพจน์ ตามสายลม)
วันให้คำ	ายินยอมเข้าร่วมวิจัย วันที่เดือนพ.ศ
ในกรณี	ที่ผู้ถูกทดลองยังไม่บรรลุนิติภาวะ จะต้องได้รับการยืนยอมจากผู้ปกครองหรือผู้

จุปการะโดยขอบด้วยกฎหมาย

ลงนามผู้ยื	นยอม
()
ลงนามพย	าน
(รองศาสตราจารย์ ทันตแพทย์หญิง คร.สมพร _. สวัสดิสรรพ์)	
ลงนาม	114

(นางมาลี ตั้งพิสิฐโยธิน)

ลงนาม.....ห้วหน้าโครงการวิจัย

(ผู้ช่วยศาสตราจารย์ ทันดแพทย์สูพจน์ ตามสายลม)

วันให้คำยินยอมเข้าร่วมวิจัย วันที่......เดือน.....พ.ศ....พ.ศ.

เอกสารยกเลิกการยินยอมเข้าร่วมวิจัย (Withdrawal Form)

การวิจัยเรื่อง

การตอบสนองของสโตรมัลเขลล์จากใขกระดูกมนุษย์ที่มีต่อออสติโอพอนทินและโครงร่าง ออสติโอพอนทิน/ คอลลาเจนจากผิวหนังวัว เมื่อศึกษาด้วยการเพาะเลี้ยงเขลล์

เหตุผลในการยกเลิกการยืนยอมเข้าร่วมวิจัย

- 🎴 ข้ายภูมิล่ำเนา
- ไม่สะดวกในการเดินทาง
- 🖸 เหตุผลอื่น

ลงนาม	ผู้ยกเลิกการยืนยอม
()
ลงนาม	พยาวน
(รองศาสตราจารย์ ทันดแพทย์หญิง ดร.สมพร สวัสดิสรรพ์))
ลงนาม	พยาน
(นางมาลี ตั้งพิสิฐโยธิน)	

(ผู้ช่วยศาสตราจารย์ ทันดแพทย์สุพจน์ ตามสายลม)

วันยกเลิกการยินยอมเข้าร่วมวิจัย วันที่......เดือน.....พ.ศ.พ.ศ.

BIOGRAPHY

Mr. Papalpong Sirikururat was born in Hatyai, Songkhla on October 11^{III}, 1982. He began his elementary and high school education from Senpong and Hatyai Wittayalai School, Songkhla. He earned his Doctor of Dental Surgery degree with first class honor from Chulalongkorn University in 2005. He served the government as a general dentist at Thapput Hospital, Phang-nga from 2005-2006. Presently, he practices in private dental clinics, Bangkok. At the same time, he attends the Master of Science Program in Periodontics, Department of Periodontology, Faculty of Dentistry, Chulalongkorn University. The was granted CHULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY GRADUATE SCHOLARSHIP TO COMMEMORATE THE 72^{IIII} ANNIVERSARY OF HIS MAJESTY KING BHUMIBOL ADULYADEJ in academic year 2006-2007.